TRAVELS

IN THE

PANJAB, AFGHANISTAN, & TURKISTAN,

BALK, BOKHARA, AND HERAT;

.
ST S Lo

S
. -

A VISIT T0 GREATFRATAIN- AND GERMANY.

By MOHAN LAL, Esq,

Knight of the Persian Order ’qf the Lion and Sun ; lately attached to
the Mission at Kabul,

LONDON:

WM. H ALLEN & Co,
7, LEADENHALL STREET.

. 1846.
s




Py
639233

Printed by J. & H. COX, BROTHERS (LaTk COX & SONS),
74 & 75, Great Queen-street, Lincoln’s-Inn Fields.




TO

C. EE TREVELYAN, Esq,
&c. &e. &c.

THi1s volume is inscribed as a proof of my heart-
felt gratitude, - sespocs,’ ard affection to a friend to
whom I am indelsted . ur:all IenJoy in the world :
who, besides educating 1ne in. :y’(:gu,th, early associated
me with himself; tsught me o think and to act asa
man, when most of my companions were still engaged
in their education in the class established by him,
and who afterwards expressed his satisfaction towards
me in the following words: «“I feel now that the
favourable opinion which I formed of you when a
boy, and which subsequently led me to select you to
accompany Sir Alexander Burnes on his journey, has
been fully justified by the result, and it is satisfactory
to me to think that I have been the means of ena-
bling you to commence an useful and honourable

career.”
MOHAN LAL.

LoNpoN, 1st March, 1846.






PREFACE.

IN presenting to the public the following journal
of my travels, I feel it incumbent on me to state
that my course of instruction in the English language
was not of a long duration, and therefore I hope
that errors of idiom, and the use of terms not strictly
proper, will be overlooked by candid readers. Even
in that short period of my tuition, I was not able to
attend the college regularly, and pay close atten-
tion to my studies, owing to the sudden change
from highly comfortable and adequate means, my
predecessors having been deprived of respectable
estates by Government.*

Part of this Journal, which I kept during my

* During this distressed state of my mind and ciroumstances,
I was supported by Mr. C. E. Trevelyan with many friendly and
encouraging speeches, and sometimes with pocket-money, for
which, though at presqnt in a more prosperous condition, I feel
deeply grateful. He gave me some lessons before he sent me to
College, and also & document promising to promote my success
in the world as far as lay in his power.

b
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travels in Turkistan with the late Sir Alexander
Burnes, was published by me in India, but as not a
single copy of it was left unsold, and scarcely one
was to be found in England, I thought it best to
add it to the entirely new account of my travels in
the Mazari country, and the commercial reports of
the different marts on the Indus.

The reader will, perhaps, be surprised to find that
this volume contains nothing whatever concerning
our disasters in Afghanistan. A narrative of those
yet unexplained transactions will appear in another
work, which is now in preparation.

I have abridged a great deal of that part of my
Journal formerly printed, and Mr. Trevelyan has
likewise made alterations and abridgments in the
Memoir. There were many statements in both
which were quite uninteresting. The map of my
route contains parts which I surveyed myself, and
‘were never before traversed.

I bave mentioned the names of some gentlemen
and ladies, and quoted their letters, and I have
expressed the sentiments of heartfelt gratitude
which I owe them. This I have done with the
view that the people of Asia might read them,
and be thereby assured of receiving kindness in
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this civilized and hospitable country, and discard
the most unjust idea, that strangers are neither
protected nor respected in Europe.
MOHAN LAL,
Kashmirian.

4, George-street, Manchester-square,
London, 1st March, 1846,
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MEMOIR OF MOHAN LAL.

BY
C. E. TREVELYAN, Esa.

Originally published at Calcutta, in the year 1834, as a Preface to Mokan
Lal’s Narrative of his Travels to Bokhara, &c., in compasy
with the late Sir Alexander Burnes.

——————

“MonaN LaL is the son of Rae Budh Singh, the
son of Raja Mani Ram, of Kashmir, who held a high
rank, with a considerable estate, at the court of
the late emperors of Delhi. His father, the Rae,
was a resident of that ancient metropolis, and he
accompanied the Honourable Mountstuart Elphin-
stone to Peshawer, in the capacity of Persian secre-
tary, from which association the subject of this
Memoir began even from early childhood to take an
interest in the affairs of that quarter. After receiving
the ordinary Persian education at home, Mohan Lal
was introduced to me by his father, who had learned,
from a short residence at Calcutta, the advamtages
of an English education, and willingly agreed to
send his son to join an English class which had just
been established in the Persian College at Delhi.

” Let no one despise the day of small things. This
little class, which was formed amid the scoffs of
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the learned inhabitants of Delhi, and the prudential
objections of not a few of the European residents;
and which consisted, for several weeks after its first
establishment, of only six individuals, was the nu-
cleus of a system which, to all appearances, is
destined to change the moral aspect of the whole
of Upper India. Only five years have passed since
that period, and an annually increasing body of the
most intelligent and aspiring youths of the upper
and middle classes, amounting at present to at least
three hundred, is zealously pursuing the study of
English; and in a few years, such a number of advo-
cates and teachers of the new learning will have
been raised up, that the system must obtain a de-
cided predominance. Except among a few adherents
to ancient systems, who foresee the inevitable con-
sequences of the process which is going on, pre-
judices have been disarmed ; and the movement has
become so decidedly national, that Indians of rank
and influence, no longer willing that the exclu-
sive direction should remain with the Europeans,
have begun to take the matter into their own
hands, and they are at this moment engaged in
devising the means of establishing a separate col-
lege for the young nobility of that quarter, in which
their children may receive a good English educa-
tion, without associating with the other classes of
the community.

 The importance of this change cannot be appre-
ciated unless we recollect that Delbi was of all
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places the least promising field for trying a great
experiment of this kidd. It was justly considered
the stronghold of Mohammedan bigotry. The coun-
tenance and authority of the king, the large body
of learned “maulavis and hakims,” * the numerous
mosques and public ceremonials, and above all,
the hereditary associations of respect and esteem
with which the Mohammedan system was viewed
in the Mohammedan capital, seemed to render such
an attempt hopeless; yet & more flourishing tree
never sprung up even in the best of soils. English
learning has now become so well and firmly esta-
blished, that, in the course of years, by the mere
accumulation of existing means, without any new
effort, it must displace every other system. After
what has taken place at Delhi, we need not despair
of success in any quarter, provided the efforts made
are sustained by zeal, and directed by good sense.

“We do not think our readers will blame us for
shewing the connection which exists between
Mohan Lal’s history and the commencement of
one of the greatest moral changes that has ever
taken place on the face of the globe. Mohan Lal
is among the first-fruits of the new system, and he
has done it no small credit. He was one of the little
class of six students above referred to, whose
memory will be cherished when the professors of
the new literature, and of the new system of morals

* Theologians and medical men.
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and science embodied in it, will be numbered by
millions, and when it will be narrated as a striking
instance of the superintending providence of God,
that so mighty a change was accomplished by means
apparently so weak and contemptible. Shahamat
Ali,* who is imparting gratuitous instruction in the
English language to the youth of Lodiana, and amus-
ing the people of Calcutta with the interesting
news of that quarter, is another of the six; as are
also Ramkrishan Jewahir Lal, and Sheoparshad,
now teachers in the parent Institution at Delhi.
Although less known to fame, Ramkrishan made
the earliest and greatest progress of all his fellows,
and is now looked up to by his old associates with
feelings of sincere respect and affection.

* The increase of the numbers of the English class
attached to the Persian College led to the formation
of a separate English College, among the students of
which, Mohan Lal and his associates held, of course,
the first rank. The hero of our tale pursued his
studies here for nearly two years, during which he
was principally distinguished for his amiable and
gentle disposition, and unassuming deportment.
Ramkrishan always kept somewhat in advance of
him in the intellectual race, but none made such an
impression upon the hearts of all who knew them as
Mohan Lal. Other students might command in a
greater degree the respect of visitors to the college,

* * Now chief Persian Secretary (Mir Munshi) to the Political
_ Resident at Indore.
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but Mohan Lal won their affections ; and the natural
grace of his simple and unaffected manners made
him an universal favourite.

” At this period Mr. Fitzgerald, of the civil service,
now unhappily no more, arrived at Delhi. He
visited the college, and a congeniality of disposition
soon led him and Mohan Lal to become frequent
associates. It was in his house Mohan Lal first
became acquainted with Lieutenant Burnes,* who
soon became sensible of his peculiar qualifications,
and proposed to the late Lord William Bentinck,
to take him as his companion and Persian secretary
in the journey which he was about to undertake
through Central Asia. -

This was the commencement of what may be
called Mohan Lal’s official career; and since that
period he has been so constantly before the public,
that there is no occasion for me to trace minutely
the steps of his progress. Suffice it to say, that
wherever he has been employed, he has left behind
him a favourable impression. The natives of those
distant countries expected, as a matter of course, to
find superior qualifications in the gentlemen who
composed the European portion of the party ; their
learning and accomplishments created no astonish-
ment ; but to see Mohan Lal, a young inhabitant
of Delhi, who had never before left his native
country, well stored with interesting information,

* The late Sir Alexander Burnes.
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and demeaning himself as one who was conscious
of his own worth, at the same time that he was
particularly unassuming in his manners—this was
indeed a matter of surprise to them. They beheld
an individual raised at once by the simple in-
fluence of an European education to associate in
the highest society ; and a person who, under other
circumstances, would not have been distinguished
from the crowd, courted and beloved for the ex-
tent of his information (which to them appeared
almost boundless), the agreeable manner in which
he communicated it to them in their own language,
and the general attraction of his manners. This
was, indeed, a triumph of our nation, which does us
more real credit than all our Plasseys and Assayes.
In the person of Mohan Lal we proved to the
Mohammedan nations beyond the Indus our qualifi-
cation for the great mission with which we have
been intrusted, of regenerating India. We con-
vinced them that we are capable of producing a
moral change infinitely more honourable to us than
any victory we have achieved. It must, therefore,
be admitted that Mohan Lal deserves well of our
country.

Not to mention minor instances, Mohan Lal was
honoured with the particular notice of Abbas Mirza,
the late lamented prince royal of Persia. On the
great day of Id-ul-Fatar, all the nobles of his court
came to pay their respects to his highness, who was
graciously pleased to summon Mohan Lal, by spe-
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cial invitation, to witness the pageant. When the
first ceremonies had been brought to & close, and
the nobles, after presenting their offerings, had
taken their places in the darbar, his highness turned
towards Mohan Lal, and asked him, as he had seen
both, whether Ranjit Singh’s court could vie in
magnificence with what he now saw before him, or
whether the Sikh army could compare in discipline
and courage with his highness’s sirbaz?* To this
Mohan Lal modestly, but firmly, replied, that Ma-
harajah Ranjit Singh’s darbar-tent was made of
Kashmir shawls, and that even the floor was com-
posed of the same costly material ; and as for his
army, if Sardar Hari Singh (Ranjit’s commander-in-
chief on the Afghan frontier) were to cross the Indus,
his highness would soon be glad to make good his
retreat to his original government in Tabriz. The
terms in which this reply was conceived, and the
tone of voice in which it was delivered, were so
indicative of frankness, that no idea of an impro-
priety having been committed occurred to any-
body; yet the free expression of opinion was a
thing so unheard of at the Persian court, that
the entire audience stood waiting in silent expec-
tation for his highness’s reply. This was not long
delayed, and, as nearly as the recollection of our
informant serves, it was as follows :—* Wonderful,
wonderful ! ” said Abbas Mirza, drawing the atten-

" * <Stakers of their heads.” The Persian regular troops are so
called.
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tion of the court towards Mohan Lal; “see the-
effect of English education!” and, after a short
pause, he continued — “ How inscrutable are the
decrees of Providence which has conferred so much
power on a kafir! (infidel) ; but if Ali, the Lion of
God, favour us, we will yet plant our standard in
Kashmir, and dress all our sirbazes in shawl panta-
loons.” On his departure from Mashad, Mohan Lal
was distinguished by his royal highness by the gift
of the order of the Lion and Sun; and since the
premature decease of that truly noble prince, this
mark of his good opinion has acquired additional
value.

From Mashad, where Abbas Mirza at that period
held his court, Mohan Lal returned with Dr. Gerard
to Herat, and during seven months’ stay at'that
place, he contracted an intimate friendship with
Sadat Malik, son of Shah Kamran, the Durani king
of that part of Afghanistan. Jonathan and David,
and Pylades and Orestes, were not more distinguished
examples of disinterested friendship than Sadat
Malik and Mohan Lal. The princes of that country
do not enjoy what we should regard as a princely
revenue ; but Sadat Malik gave what he had,
~and conferred upon his friend an accomplish-
ment which is likely to be of greater practical
value to him through life than can be estimated
in gold and silver: he taught him how to tie his
turban in a style of superior elegance. We, who
only deal in stiff round hats, can have no con-
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ception of the real importance to an Asiatic of the
ability to arrange the ample drapery of his turban
in a becoming manner. This gift among them ranks
second only to that of a handsome face, and as almost
all the world judge of persons by their outward ap-
pearance, the possession of such an accomplishment
is likely to have a beneficial influence over a per-
son’s prospects through life.

From Herat, Mohan Lal proceeded in company
with Dr. Gerard to Candahar, where he attracted the
particular notice of the Barakzai chiefs of that place.
Indeed Mohammed Saddiq Khan, the eldest son of
Kohan Dil Khan, the principal chief, was so deeply
interested by the information which Mohan Lal,
owing to his English education, was able to impart
to him, that he had at one time made up his mind
to accompany him to Calcutta, in order to acquire the
same advantages; but he was prevented from carry-
ing this resolution into effect by the unexpected
approach of Shah Shuja, which rendered it necessary
for him to remain at his post.

From Candahar the travellers returned to Kabul,
where perhaps the highest compliment of all was
paid to Mohan Lal’s character. Sardar Dost Mo-
hammed Khan, the stern and penetrating ruler
of that country, pressed him to enter into his
service, and the good-natured Jabbar Khan, Dost
Mohammed’s brother, with difficulty got him excused
on the plea that he had been long absent from his
father, and that it was therefore his duty to return
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to see him before he entered upon any plan of life.
From the practical illustration of its effects upon
Mohan Lal, Jabbar Khan was so convinced of the
greatly superior value of an English education to any
which his own country could afford, that he resolved
to send his eldest son to receive his education in our
provinces, and he has since actually done so. Abdul
Ghaias Khan is at this moment zealously pursuing
his English studies at Lodiana, under the auspices
of Captain Wade.* Whatever influence, there-
fore, this distinguished example may hereafter
have in determining the choice of the people of
India, and those of the Trans-Indus countries,
between the Asiatic and European systems of in-
struction, the world is entirely indebted for it to
Mohan Lal.

Mohan Lal has now arrived in Calcutta, in charge
of despatches and of the collection of coins and
curiosities made by him and Dr. Gerard in the
course of their journey. For this service he has
received the thanks of the Asiatic Society; but
what he has already done may be considered only
as a slight earnest of the contributions which he
will hereafter make to Asiatic science. Through
the kind acknowledgment of his merits by the
Governor-General, he will shortly return to Kabul
in a public capacity ; and the leisure and influence
he will enjoy, combined with the peculiar advan-

* Now Lieutenant-Colonel Sir Claude Wade.



MEMOIR OF MOHAN LAL. xix

tages of the situation, both as a place of great
interest in itself, and also as a point of easy com-
munication with several other countries of clas-
sical celebrity, will, no doubt, enable him to esta-
blish much greater claims on the gratitude of
the scientific world than he has hitherto done.
Even now he is zealously engaged in acquiring
those qualifications which are necessary to enable
him to make the most of the opportunities he
will enjoy; and, besides the directions which he
receives from Mr. James Prinsep, secretary to the
Asiatic Society, regarding the points which will be
particularly deserving of his attention, he is going
through a regular course of instruction in surveying,
and the morning of the seventh day is the only one
which does not behold him and his teacher busily
engaged in taking angles, and measuring with the
chain.

One other brief remark only requires to be added
—What has given Mohan Lal so decided an advan-
tage over the generality of his countrymen ? What is
it that has gained for him a willing acknowledgment
of his personal superiority by the princes of Central
Asia, and enables him to enjoy, on terms of equality,
the society of European gentlemen? It is simply
his knowledge of the English language : not a cri-
tical knowledge—that he leaves to those philologists
in whose estimation languages are desirable objects
of acquisition, not so much as a medium of obtain-
ing knowledge, as for their own proper sakes—but

—
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such knowledge as enables him to read and under-
stand English books, and to converse intelligently
with English gentlemen on ordinary subjects.

This is the simple cause of Mohan Lal’s elevation
of character ; and can it be doubted that, under the
Divine blessing, the same means which have pro-
duced such a decided effect in raising an individual
in the scale of civilization and honour, will, if
properly applied, lead to the same result in regard to
the entire population of this great country ?

CALCUTTA,
August 22nd, 1834.
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CHAPTER 1.
FROM DELHI TO PESHAWER.

Delhki, December 18, 1831, SunpaAY.—I went to
pay a visit to my poor friend, Mr. B. Fitzgerald, and
met in his house Lieutenant (afterwards Sir Alex-
ander) Burnes,* assistant resident in Cutch, whose
countenance shewed me that he was a very sensible
man. He asked me to accompany him to Turk-
istan, in the capacity of interpreter, and Persian
secretary.} He sent for my father, who had been em-
ployed as Persian secretary under the Hon. Mount-
stuart Elphinstone, on his mission to Peshawer, and
Mr. Trevelyan prevailed on him to allow me to go
with him ; he told him that he would take the same
care of me as if I were his own son. My father at
once joyfully consented, by the advice of Messrs.

* Murdered in Cabool, 2nd November, 1841.

+ I was not munshi of Sir A. Burnes; he had a munshi
from Bombay, named Mohamed Ali, whose family now re-
ceive a pension from the government for his services with Sir
A. Burnes. '

B
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Trevelyan and Fitzgerald, who had lately been
appointed secretaries to the Governor-General and
the Delhi Resident. Mr. Burnes told me to
come to Lodiana, to Captam (now Sir Claude)
Wade’s house.

On the 20th December, before I left Delhi, I
.went to see my friend Fitzgerald, who was very ill
at that time, and could not move from his bed.
When I sat by him, he took me in his arms, sighed,
and told me he was very sorry for our separation,
but hoped that I should have a successful journey.
He gave me a great deal of advice, and told me to
be assured of one thing, that this enterprising spirit
of mine would secure to me the esteem and
admiration of all Europeans, and even my own
countrymen. We shed a flood of tears at parting,
which he seemed to feel very much. Having paid
a visit to Messrs. T. T. Metcalfe and J. H. Taylor,
I commenced my journey, and arrived at Sonipat,
where I halted for the night.

Dec. 23.—A march of thirty-six miles brought
me to Panipat. I met on the road the Raja of
Patyala, who was going to meet Lord William
Bentinck. He was handsomely dressed in shawls,
and had jewels tied on his arms, according to
the usual custom among the Indian princes. He
sent for me by his secretary, and inquired for his
lordship’s camp. On receiving the proper infor-
mation, he presented me with a dish of sweetmeats,
and bent his course towards Delhi. Panipat is a
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rich and populous town. I was invited by one of
my relations at night, who gave me an excellent
dinner, followed by a dance. I laughed and joked
with my companions, though in reality melancholy,
on account of my having parted with my friend,
Mr. Fitzgerald, whose kindness I shall never
forget.

I went, accompanied by a friend, to visit the
tomb of the celebrated Boalee Qalandar, who was
a very pious man in ancient days. I saw near his
holy tomb two very handsome pillars of black
stone, called Sang Moosa (Moses’s Stone); their
size surprised me, being almost thirteen feet high,
for this kind of stone is seldom found in such
large blocks.

Dec. 24, Kurnal, fourteen miles.—I began now
to travel on horseback ; but the animal near the gate
of the city was taken ill, and unable to go further.
I was obliged to leave him at Panipat, and mounted
a small, lean pony, belonging to my friend. When
two miles from the town, it rained very hard.
Being thoroughly wet, I made my pony gallop, in
order to reach Kurnal as soon as possible ; but the
saddle broke, and I sent it to be mended in a
village called Gharaunda. I waited a long time
for the man, and being afraid of robbers, I departed
from the village on the bare back of the pony
When I nearly reached my halting-place, I met
my servant, who brought me the saddle. It was
raining when I came to Kurnal, and none of the

B2
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hostlers would receive me on account of the number
of people. Whilst I was conversing with one of
the hostlers about a lodging, a beautiful girl came
gracefully to me, and said “ Come with me in the
next room, where I will prepare a clean bed for
you.” I slept very comfortably.

Dec. 25.—We halted at Kurnal, to make pro-
vision for my journey.

Dec. 26.—A march of twenty-eight miles brought
me to Kulchhattar, a religious bathing-place of
Hindus. There are two large tanks full of water,
and a fine palace, built by the rani or princess, who
rules the villages around. She supplies strangers
with rich and delicious victuals; it is added, that
she was inveigled by a Rajput, and was induced to
put an end to her husband’s life by poison.

At the close of the day I went to bathe.
Meanwhile a crowd of men surrounded me, who
solicited me to give them some money, as a
“ dharam.” I was much astonished to hear the
names of all my ancestors mentioned to me by
a Brahmin, without any error. I gave him a rupee
and some red cloth.

Dec. 27.—I moved from this village before the
sun rose, and reached Ambala, a handsome town,
famed for its beautiful bazar. The shops appear
neat, and are inhabited by different traders, in
number nearly five hundred. There is a hand-
some edifice, situated in a garden, at some distance
from the city, where Mr. Clerk resides, who
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manages the political transactions of this country.
I was invited to dinner by Kidarnath, the younger
brother of Dinanath, a respectable man, who was
head accountant-general in the Maharaja Ranjit
Singh’s service.

Dec. 28.—I marched early in the morning, but
a heavy shower of rain obliged me to stop at a
cottage, thatched with straw, and inhabited by a
guard. When the rain was over, I recommenced
my journey to Banjara Sarai.

Dec. 29.—A march of fifty miles brought me to
a ruined village, called Duraha. I passed on my
way through the famous ruins of Sarhind, built by
the emperors of Delhi. It is celebrated for its
bridge, which is very solid and strong. A hus-
bandman of the village brought me some vegetables,
which I divided among the people; I gave him a
cambric sheet, which made him very happy. The
place where I am now is bare both of men and
provisions.

Dec. 30.—Although the rain continued, I pro-
ceeded towards Lodiana, whither I was conducted
by one of Ranjit Singh’s horsemen. Here I again
met Mr. Burnes, at the house of Captain Wade,
whose countenance and conversation shewed that
he was clever, hospitable, and polite. Mr. Burnes
was much pleased at my safe arrival at Lodiana.

Captain Wade’s house is well built and has a
fine garden.

Jan. 1 & 2, 1832, Lodiana.—I was invited to
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breakfast and dine by the adjutant of the Maharaja
Ranjit Singh, named Surajbban. He is 8 man of
bold aspect and great intrepidity.

Lodiana is not so clean and handsome a town as
Ambala ; it is more populous, on account of the
British army encamped there.

Jan. 3.—Having obtained Ranjit Singh’s permis-
sion to prosecute our journey through his territory,
we quitted the British cantonment of Lodiana,
bending our course on the left bank of the Satlej,
or Hesudrus, and halted for the night at Goshpura,
eight miles distant. I got a dinner from an officer
of the Maharaja, a very good and religious person,
more so than any of the Sikh authorities.

Jan. 4—Our camp was on the high bank of
the Satlej, where we felt it piercing cold at break of
day. The mountains looked from here very lofty,
and were clad entirely in white. We marched to
Bundri, along the same bank of the river, which
appeared proud of its rapid current. Our route
continued in the lowland of the Satlej, which had
a rich and productive soil.

Jan. 5—At the close of the day, we reached
Sadra, nine miles. Many of the villages along
the bank have been injured by the Satlej. We
were joined this night by a smart band of cavalry
sent to accompany us by Ranjit Singh, who was
pleased to send a friendly letter. The Maharaja had
made magnificent preparations to receive us.

Jan. 6.—We moved ten miles to Indgarh. The
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villages close to the Satlej are inhabited by farmers,
who possess much wealth. The husbandmen con-
sist of Sikhs, Hindu Jats, and Mohammedans ; but
the former have great superiority over the latter.
The people resemble those of the Panjab. Their
houses are constructed of mud and wooden frames.

There is great distress felt from scarcity of fuel in
this part of the country, but cow-dung is burnt by
the people after it is sun-dried. I am surprised
at the foolish prejudices of Hindus, who worship
cows and eat cow-dung, to purify themselves, and
at other times burn it.

Jan. 7.—We continued our course to Sardar-
khan-ka-kot, eight miles distant. The soil through-
out abounds with sand, but is fertile.

At Dharam-kot we were welcomed by the ruler
of the village, and also by the people, who, when we
approached the walls, were astonished by our dress
and manners. The Sikhs are mostly descended
from Hindu Jats, but have abandoned that religion
to follow their former principles; they believe now
in Baba Nanak.

Jan.8.—We moved to Shah Babakar, eight miles
distant. In our route we passed the dry bed of a
river, which I am told was that of the Satlej, fifty
or sixty years ago. The land between it and the
present channel is totally barren and uncultivated.
The southern bahk of the Satlej is inhabited by
Mohammedans, who have introduced the practice
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of agriculture. The natives of Dharam-kot are
chiefly Gujars.

Jan. 9.—A march of ten miles brought us to the
banks of the Beeas, or Hyphasis. We halted three
miles on this side of the junction of the Beeas
and the Satlej.

In this part of the country, Guru Gobind Singh
fought a great many battles formerly with the
emperor of Delhi. He was the founder of the Sikh
religion, and ruled the country with great honour.

Jan. 10.—We continued in our camp with the
view of getting a correct insight into the manners
of the people of this country. The husbandmen
are slow in cultivation, though the seil is rich.
They are Mohammedans, and attached to their
faith ; they are not civilly treated by the Sikhs or
Khalsa, who consider plunder as traffic, and
oppression justice.

We crossed the Satlej, and encamped on the
banks of the Hyphasis, where the waters of two
streams meet each other. These rivers are not
fordable by the usual ferry.

Jan. 11.—Passed the Hyphasis or Beeas by the
usual ferry of Hari, or, as it is usually called, Hari-
ka-pattan. The shawls of Kashmir and other
articles of that city go by this route to Delhi and
other parts.

At Hari a select band of Ranjit Singh’s cavalry
is stationed to protect the villagers against the
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Akalis and Nihangs. These violent and ignorant
men do not fear Ranjit Singh, who has often run
the risk of his life from these bigoted people.
The Sikhs and Nihangs believe in Nanak Baba;
but the manners and dress of the latter are quite
different from those of the former. The Nihangs are
careless of their own lives, and consequently of
those of others.

At Hari we were well treated by a Sikh Sardar,
named Sham Singh, who was despatched by Ranjit
Singh. * He presented a bow and bags of money,
which Mr. Burnes civilly declined receiving. He
said he was sent by the Maharaja to defend us from
the Nihangs. These men are always described
by Ranjit Singh as kag fakm wa kotah andesh,
which means a people of bad understanding and
short-sighted.

Jan. 12.—We came to Patti, nine miles distant.
Our course led us over an uncultivated soil. The
town of Patti is handsomely built of bricks. It
has about forty shops, inhabited by different mer-
chants. At the fort of Patti is a stud of mares,
belonging to Ranjit Singh, which Mr. Burnes went
to visit; they were smart and beautiful animals.
All are of the breed of Dahni, which is situated
beyond the Hydaspes, and is celebrated for horses.

In the morning we heard the melancholy news of
the death of my excellent friend, Mr. B. Fitzgerald,
which grieved me very much, and made me low-
spirited. As to lament the course of nature and
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will of God avails nothing to the friends of the
deceased, I considered we must wait with patience,
and even be happy in the prospect of that time
when, sooner or later, we must follow him to that
place where death is not known, and where we shall
obtain everlasting life.

Jan. 13.—We came to Suga, eight miles distant.
In the evening a detachment of 500 horse, with two
guns, passed by our camp from Lahor, with the
intention of punishing the Akalis or Nihangs, who
are always disobeying their ruler.

Among the Sikh Jats it is & custom, that when-
ever a lady loses her husband, she marries one of his
brothers, and sometimes cohabits with them when
her husband is abroad, which does not provoke him
at all. It is added also, that no woman in the
Himalaya mountains is married to a single person,
but to three or four of the same family.

The winter in the Panjab is intensely cold, and
the water freezes in the ponds.

Jan. 14.—We commenced our march to Pidana,
a distance of ten miles, traversing a barren soil
all day.

We met on the road Sardar Jowala Singh, a
Sikh of rank, who was ordered by the Maharaja
to receive us. He delivered us a friendly letter,
with a bag of money, sent by the Maharaja, and
conducted us through his fort. It appears to be a
magnificent structure from a distance. It stands
in the middle of the village, encircled by the houses
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of his retinue; the whole is surrounded by a mud
wall and narrow ditch. His request, that we would
stay in his fort on the 15th, was complied with
by Mr. Burnes. _

Jan. 16.—A march of ten miles brought us to
Dohree, a small village. It was piercing cold this
morning ; all the pools were frozen and the fields
were ornamented with the pearls of hoar frost.
Whilst taking a walk in the fields, I saw a fine bird,
the size of a sparrow ; his head was green, and his
tail white ; his wings were blue and red ; his delicate
chirping brought to my mind the power of Almighty
God.

Jan. 17.— Before we arrived at the city of
Lahor, our route lay through the ruins of the old
city, which appeared to have had a greater popula-
tion than that of the present city.

One of the Maharaja’s French generals, named
Mons. Allard, and two other respectable persons
(one of whom was my friend Diwan Ajudhia Nath),
came out a few miles to meet us; very great were
the congratulations between us.

Jan. 18.—By the desire of the Maharaja Ranjit
Singh, we paid a visit to his highness in the after-
noon, in a garden near the Durgah of Shah Belaval.
The tent in which he held his darbar, was as if it
had been the tent of an angel, and not of man.
Ranjit Singh came forward a few paces to receive
us ; he then placed Mr. Burnes and Dr. Gerard
on golden chairs, and talked for two hours with
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them, in a very friendly manner. He asked my
name, and Mr. Burnes told him I was a very
clever lad, and knew English, which I had learned
at the Delhi College, under Mr. Trevelyan; he
also conferred many favours on me, and gave me a
sum of money. His highness’s conversation made
it appear that he was an intimate friend of the
British Government. Ranjit Singh is a thin man,
and has only one eye; his long beard, which reaches
his navel, is silvered by age. He governs his king-
dom without any minister or counsellor. His one
eye is ever inflamed, either by the use of opium or
wine ; the latter he praises heartily in conversation,
particularly when he is talking with Europeans. He
is habituated to have beautiful dancing-girls every
moment before him, which is only to gratify his
eye. Among other anecdotes of him, the following
was mentioned to me by his ministers who stand
high in his favour :—

Heera Singh, a beautiful and delicate boy of
thirteen years, the eldest son of Raja Dhian Singh,
a handsome person, was loved by Ranjit Singh, who
was much attached to him. It is alleged, that the
‘Maharaja, in order to please this boy, was induced
to settle some rich provinces in the Panjab upon
his father, Dhian Singh, who, when he was young,
enjoyed the same affection and fondness of the
Maharaja. It is added, that the Maharaja cannot
bear any person to approach him when in his bed-
room except this boy, who also nearly collects a
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quarter of the revenue of the Panjab. He cer-
tainly is not such a miracle of beauty as report
describes him, yet Ranjit Singh allows him to sit
on a chair by his side in the open court, while his
father, Raja Dhian Singh, is placed on the ground.*

Jan.19 to 23.—We continued at Lahor, to enjoy
the civilities of our friends, and learn the state of
the country.

Lahor is fortified and has a deep ditch. The
streets are so narrow and muddy, that two horses
can scarcely pass, and no man can walk in them
without dirtying his trousers as well as shoes. The
shops in the city are irregularly constructed of
bricks and mortar.

The air of Lahor is very pure. The summer is
extremely hot, and the winter intensely cold. The
soil is rich, and produces corn, wheat, oranges, &c.
abundantly. Lahor is subject to earthquakes, as
I can witness; there was an earthquake on the
22nd at night.

The established religion of Lahor is Sikh or
Khalsa. The inhabitants believe and worship Baba
Nanak, whom they call Guru, or abbot. They are
authorized by him to eat hogs; the Mohamme-
dans are scarcely tolerated, and even disgracefully
treated.

Lahor is governed in an absolute manner. The
present king, Ranjit Singh, has passed a law that

* Both Dhian Singh and Heera Singh have since been
killed.
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the noses and ears of thieves shall be cut off, and
a fine of two or three thousand rupees imposed on
a murderer. In the court of the Maharaja, there
are three men of obscure origin, of the same family,
who are raised to the highest pitch of favour,—
namely, Raja Gulab Singh, Raja Dhian Singh, and
Suchet Singh.* The Maharaja consults them upon
all occasions; no favours can be procured but by
their recommendation, and all suitors endeavour
to gain these three men over to their side by
presents and sometimes by flattery.

Jan. 24.—We were happy to receive a friendly
letter from the Maharaja, soliciting us to proceed
on a hunting excursion, and join his highness;
on which we quitted the city of Lahor, and followed
its course up the bank of the Ravi to Avan, ten
miles. The bed of the river here was quite dry.

Before reaching our camp, we visited the garden
of Shalemar, which vies with the garden of heaven
in magnificence and beauty. Its original name is
¢ Sholah Mah,” or the Flame of the Moon. The
streams of water running at the four corners, give
an idea of the Mahtab Bagh, in a palace of the
Delhi king. One of the gardeners presented us
with a basket of oranges, which were sweet, and had
a soft skin.

Jan. 25.—A march of nine miles brought us to
the bank of the Ravi, where the camp of the Maha-

* Raja Gulab Singh js now the only survivor of this family.
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raja was pitched in great pomp. A raja of good
aspect came forward to receive us, and conducted us
to the tents pitched for us by the Maharaja. They
were made of Kashmir shawls, not large, but of an
elegant size. In the evening Captain Wade and Dr.
Murray arrived in the camp. The Maharaja sent
us a quantity of sweetmeats and fruits.

Jan. 26.—The Maharaja sent us a friendly mes-
sage that we should pay our respects to his highness,
which Mr. Burnes civilly declined, on some account
which I do not know.

Diwan Ajudhia Nath, one of the respectable
men of the Maharaja, came into my tent, and
inquired the cause of my undertaking such a long
and dangerous journey. I gave him an evasive
answer, but he tried to induce me to stop at Lahor
till my relations should come there, in consequence of
a marriage; I refused all his requests, as I was very
anxious to visit the Mohammedan countries o the
frontier of Russia.

Jan. 27.— Having forded the river Ravi on
elephants with the Maharaja, we encamped at eve
in some uncultivated land. Though the Maharaja
sometimes rode on horseback, we prosecuted our
journey on elephants till we reached his canopy,
pitched on a high ground. Ranjit Singh conversed
for two hours with Mr. Burnes in great good
humour.

I was along with Diwan Ajudhia Nath, being
placed with him by Azizudin, the prime minister of
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the Maharaja, who told me to sit by his side, and
inquired about my knowledge of Persian. I ex-
plained to him minutely what I had read. He is
a very great, learned, and religious man, and the
author of several books respecting his religion and
the immortality of the soul. He praised my enter-
prising spirit in undertaking a journey through
the bigoted Mohammedan countries, and then
spoke with Diwan Ajudhia Nath, and asked him
how he dared to send so young a boy on such a
fearful tour; to which he replied, that he had
done his best to persuade me against my design of
travelling, but it availed nothing.

Jan. 28.—We went this day on an elephant, in
company with the Maharaja, on a hunting expe-
dition. He was on horseback, gorgeously appa-
relled, and armed cap-a-pie, and had a good
appearance. In half an hour a number of hogs
were killed, and many more entrapped alive by
the Sikh soldiers. Ranjit Singh, seeing the slain
hogs, rewarded the sportsmen. After two hours
the party returned to the encampment, and we, in
company with the Maharaja, entered his pavilion,
which was made of Kashmir shawls, ornamented
with the richest embroidery. Ranjit Singh talked
for an hour with a smiling aspect and good humour
with Mr. Burnes and Dr. Gerard. He sent for
dancing-girls, and placed them before us, joking
with them in the open court, which ill-becomes a
monarch, and is improper in the opinion of the wise.
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Jan. 29.—We bent our course, in company with
the Maharaja, to the Sarae or inn, ten miles distant.
On the road nothing was notable, except the regular
line of smart cavalry which encircled the Maharaja
and our party.

Jan. 30.—Having spent two hours in visiting

the beautiful tomb of the Emperor Jahangir, in
Shahdra, situated on the right bank of the Ravi, we
reached Lahor, eleven miles distant. The tomb is
constructed entirely of marble, of fine workman-
ship, beneath which rests the body of the monarch.
The tomb of his wife, Nurmahal, (formerly the wife
of Sher Afkan,) has been ruined; precious stones
are daily carried away by the restless Sikhs, who
are addicted to plunder. I call it a noble monu-
ment, because there are few antiquities like it in
Delhi, which I think an incomparable city.
* Jan. 31 to Feb. 5.—We continued at Lahor to
learn the laws and customs of the Sikh Govern-
ment. It is needless for me to mention any thing
regarding the politics of the Sikh Government, as
they have been already minutely described by Sir
Alexander Burnes.

Lakor, Feb. 6.—1 went to see the fair of Basunt,
near the tomb of Madhu Lal Husain, a distance
of three miles; my course led me through the ruins
of the old city, which gave me an idea of the
durability of its comstruction. I was surprised to
view the Maharaja’s troops standing on both sides
of the road, forming a regular street, with their

c
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uniform basanti dress (of a yellow colour), to salute
the King of the Panjab, who was apparelled. like-
wise in a basanti dress, accompanied by his Euro-
pean guests; he proceeded to the tents, which
were made of yellow silk and ornamented with
pearls, where he was received with the most
extravagant demonstrations of joy,—* Long live
the good liege of the Five Rivers!” was the general
cry. By the trotting of elephants and horses, the
dust arose so thick that one could not see.

The original name of Madhu Lal Husain was
made known to me by an old man of Lahor.
Madhu was a Hindu boy ; his beauty made a strong
impression upon the heart of Lal Husain, a holy
man. He solicited the boy from his parents, in
order to make him his disciple, but his request was
not complied with. In a few days after the boy
expired, and his parents, being melancholy, repaired
to Lal Husain, imploring him in mercy to restore
their son Madhu to life. On hearing this, Lal
Husain stipulated with them, that if their son
Madhu came to life again, they should allow him
to become his disciple. The poor parents agreed
to this, and Madhu was revived by the sacred
blessings of Lal Husain. They lived some days in
happiness, and finally met death both at the same
time, and their bodies now rest in one coffin.

Feb. 7 to 10.—In the house of Diwan Ajudhia

Nath I met an old darvesh, who had traversed the
countries of Asia. He mentioned the barbarity of
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the Uzbegs and the inhabitants of Bokhara, which
terrified the people sitting by me. He said, that
the gangs called Alaman plunder caravans and
travellers, and, after seizing the latter, reduce them
toslavery. Though he explained to me many other
cruelties with which they afflict foreign people, yet
this did not frighten me in the least, because I
have been habituated to rely on God since my
minority.

Feb. 11.—Four miles’ journey brought us to
Shahdra, where, having obtained Ranjit Singh’s
permission, we crossed the river on a ferry-boat,
and remained for the night there. I passed it
without sleep, in consequence of cares and anxiety,
which often oppress the human heart, but more
frequently the hearts of travellers.

Our baggage and servants were so reduced that
the men of the Maharaja’s cavalry who accompanied
us were laughing at our poverty, but still praised
our bold design. We had no tents to shield our-
selves from the rain and hoar frost, to which the
country is generally subject. We had no beds, but
slept upon the bare ground. At night I was
astonished to see Mr. Burnes and Dr. Gerard sit-
ting on the ground, which I never saw an Englishman
do before.

Feb. 12—We came to Nangal, fifteen miles.
This village is generally inhabited by Hindu beg-
gars, called Sadh, who are respected by Ranjit
Singh ; they treat Mohammedans with contempt

c2
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and insult. Their body is left naked, except the
lower part, which is covered by a piece of coarse
cloth. They wear wooden shoes, and commonly do
penance in the Himalaya mountains. Their hair is
exceedingly long, and made brown by ashes.

One of the Sadhs considered me as a boy, when
we met by a well, where I was drinking water,
and talked a great deal with me about his piety.
He told me, that he was an excellent chemist, and
fervently wished to teach me the making of gold,
“as I was a good and clever boy.” Though I knew
him to be a false man, yet, in order to examine
him, I applied to him for instruction, as if I was
a stranger to his fraud. I told him, I should be
much obliged to him if he would be kind enough
to teach me chemistry. He replied, that he could
not teach me without obtaining first the sanction of
his religious father, whose doctrine all the society
follow with great respect and honour. I detected
his fraud when he solicited a sum of money, as a
present to God.

Feb. 13.—A march of eleven and a half miles
brought us to a village called Kot, where I again
reduced my heavy baggage. My heart was ready
to burst, when I sent back my faithful servant, for
fear that the Durani tribe, seeing a multitude of
servants with us, would think us rich men, and
plunder us at night. Our parting I felt very much,
because I had spent the greatest part of the time of
my early age with him in frolic and sport. When
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the dawn of the next day broke, I sighed, and
disliked the day that I left my relations at Delhi,
suffering a relapse, which I had last year.

Feb. 14—We commenced our march to Mian
Singh’s fort, a distance of ten miles. This fort is
constructed with mud; it is about forty feet high.
We halted the ensuing day in a garden near the
fort, which was planted by Mian Singh. It is
covered with fruit-trees and flowers. Mian Singh is
the bravest commander in Ranjit Singh’s army, and
has fought a great many battles, in which he has
received wounds. He sent us a dinner, and treated
us with respect.

Feb. 16.—We came to Saharan, a distance of
twelve and a half miles, which is celebrated for the
beauty of the women who reside there. The soil is
generally fertile, but not much cultivated. The
farmers are careless in agriculture, because unjustly
deprived of their privileges by the Maharaja’s officers,
who violate the chastity of their females. Their
language is sweet and mild, but they are stern in
heart.

Feb. 17—We commenced our march to Ram
Nagar, eleven miles distant. This town is popu-
lous, and has many shops. We halted the ensuing
day, 18th, in a country house of Ranjit Singh, called
Baradari (bara means ‘twelve,’ dars means ‘a door;’
a house having twelve doors).

I bad a grand view of the natural sublimity of
the Himalaya mountains from the top of Baradari.
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I could not venture to indicate their height, in con-
sequence of their being covered with masses of snow.
Some of the mountains looked as white as crystal,
and some red, blue, and brown.

The name of this town has been altered, since the
decline and fall of the Mohammedan empire, from
Rasul Nagar to Ram Nagar. Rasw/, in Persian,
means ‘ messenger,’” and Ram ¢ obedient.’

Feb. 19.—Across the Chenab, five miles. We
passed the stream of the Chenab, or Acesines, this
morning on a ferry-boat, and halted at the small
village of Rarmal. The river is two hundred yards
wide ; but at this season it overflows for two miles
on both sides, which much troubles travellers. The
water of the Chenab appeared reddish, as I observed
from the boat.

The natives of the Panjab are filthy; they never
bathe or wash their faces, on account of which
they are much afflicted with fever and cold. A
mad man was brought to us for some medicine.
Dr Gerard bled him, and he got better.

The Chief of Ram Nagar came and brought
us some wine made in that country. It was ac-
cepted and distributed to the people, as Mr. Burnes
had not tasted wine since he left the presence of
Ranjit Singh, with whom he, Dr. Gerard, Captain
Wade, and Dr. Murray gave way to the noisy
pleasure of wine and festivity in the Samman Burj.

Feb. 20. Palia, eleven miles.—Our course en-
tirely lay over sandy and barren ground, though I
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expected we should meet a rich soil. I remained
at a husbandman’s house, who with a large “family
was cast upon the sand in penury; he had a wife
and four children, who felt the piercing cold, and
were reduced to extreme distress. We halted here
the 21st, in consequence of the continued rain.

Feb. 22. Biki, ten miles.—We commenced our
march towards the town of Jelum. The country
is covered by bushes and jungle. We halted at a
mosque, built by a sacred virgin. She was a very
religious lady, who had devoted herself to the
perusal of the Koran, which she learnt by heart.
She has dug a well in the mosque, which is of
great service to the inhabitants of the village, in
consequence of the sweet and crystal water it
contains.

There is nothing remarkable in this village except
the beauty and cheerfulness of the women. When
I was measuring this well, I beheld a crowd of
women engaged in drawing water from it. They
seemed to have a masculine spirit ; one of them was
a perfect model of beauty, and had a very noble air
and graceful deportment ; her person was clean ; she
charmed the spectators with her modesty. Her
raiment being blue, added lustre to her beauty.

Feb. 23. Badshahpur, eleven miles distant.—We
reached this village at six o’clock in the evening.
I halted at a blacksmith’s house. We had this
night a heavy shower of rain, with darkness.
Mr. Burnes sent for me on some urgent busi-
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ness. From the rain and dark, I lost the way to
Mr. Burnes’s lodging, which was some distance from
that of mine, and came to the edge of a small
well, into which I nearly fell.

Feb. 24. Dadan-Khan-ka-Pind, sixteen miles,
across the Jelum, or Hydaspes.— We moved at
one o’clock in the forenoon; our route lay in muddy
and watery ground, which caused a good deal of
fatigue to our horses.

I was happy to visit the waves of the Jelum or
Hydaspes, which flows out of Kashmir. We crossed
it on a ferry boat before it was dark. The rapidity
and depth of this famous river surpass those of the
Jamna and the Ganges.

We halted at the Pind or town of Dadan Khan,
where we were welcomed by a Rajput Sardar,
named Dargah Singh; he brought an offering of
money, and some jars of sweetmeats, sent by Raja
Gulab Singh for us.

This town is handsomely built on a beautiful
spot, about three miles from the river. There is a
Sarae (which the Hindus call Dharam Sala) erected
by a Sikh chief, whose body is buried there, and has
been ornamented by his followers. This town is
celebrated for salt-mines, and copper ware, which is
made better here than in any other part of the
Panjab. '

Feb. 25.—We proceeded to examine the salt-
mines, which are bounded by a range of hills six
miles N.N.W. of Pind Dadan Khan. This range
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of hills is situated at the foot of the White Moun-
tain, or Sufaid Kobh, and passes along the Indus at .
Karabagh, terminating at the right bank of the
Jelum or Hydaspes.

Near the village of Khavira we penetrated one of
the largest mines, which extends about 400 yards,
one hundred of which are a descent. The passage
at this distance is so narrow, that it does not admit
of two men passing together. When we came to
the seat of the salt, there were a great number of
men and women with their little children at work.
The salt, which is reddish, is very hard, and is dug
up with sledge-hammers and axes. There is no
moist or cold feeling in these mines. The workmen
have a yellow and unhealthy countenance. The
temperature was 20 degrees above that of the
mines, where Dr. Gerard’s thermometer was 64°.
The revenue of the salt-mines amounts to eighteen
lacs of rupees a year, with two lacs additional for
the duties. The salt is exported, laden on mules
and camels, to all parts of the Panjab, but seldom
to India. A rivulet of salt-water intersects the
range of these mines.

In the vicinity of these mines there is a religious
place of the Hindus, called Katas. This place has
a pond, in which are a great many snakes, swim-
ming like fish, but they do not hurt or bite any
individual whatever. I was invited to visit this
sacred place with an officer of Ranjit Singh, named
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Chunelal, who is a very religious man, but modesty
prevented me from asking leave of Mr. Burnes.

Feb. 26. Jutana, twelve miles.—We reached this
village at sunset, and put up in a farmer’s house,
built on the top of a hill called Jud, but in modern
times nobody knows that name. The hill is two
hundred feet high, and has a salt-mine in its
neighbourhood. The inhabitants of this village are
Mohammedans, tall and handsome ; their language
is quite different from that of the Panjab, but their
dress is almost the same. They did not take Mr.
Burnes to be an Englishman, and asked our ser-
vants, with astonishment, who were Europeans (or
« Sahib-log™)?

The agriculture is bad, because the ground is
unequal, and consequently the husbandmen are
poor, and often prompted to sell their daughters
and sons to provide themselves with the necessaries
of life.

Feb. 27. Jalalpur, sixteen miles distant.—We
followed the course of the Jelum, and reached the
village at evening. Our route lay entirely in sandy
valleys, which had no marks of the road. This
village is built on a beautiful spot, and its inha-
bitants are chiefly Hindus.

I had the opportunity to be in the same village
where my father had encamped with Mr. Elphin-
stone, on his return from Peshawer. I put up in a
brahman’s house, who was generously treated by
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my father; he made great preparations, beyond his
ability, for my dinner, and prepared a good bed
for me.

Feb. 28. Darapur, a distance of nine miles.—
This village is very fine and richly cultivated. It
contains about thirty shops, irregularly constructed
of mud and bricks. The women of this village are
beautiful, and fond of indulgence. They have
power over their husbands, whom they control
rather than obey, and do what they like. The
climate is temperate and wholesome. The soil is
fertile, producing immense quantities of cotton,
tobacco, rice, and Indian corn.

Feb 29.—Our course led us aside from the stream
of the Jelum. We passed several channels, whose
water had dried up, leaving their beds a little muddy.
As there had been rain on the preceding night, the
green fields of corn were decorated with pearls of
dew. We encamped at the small village of Sangin,
ten and a half miles distant.

The people of the village assembled in crowds,
and looked at us and at our dress with astonishment.
One of them, who had passed the meridian of life,
inquired of me what I was, and what were our in-
tentions : to which I made reply, that we were poor
travellers, and going on a pilgrimage ; but he told
me, in an abusive manner, that we were spies.

March 1. Fort of Rotas, a distance of nine miles.
—We took our departure through the valleys, and
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after passing two small currents, entered this famous
and ancient fort by an irregular and steep road.
The officers came out of the fort to receive us; and
after paying their respects, conducted us into the
fort, where they gave us a clean house.

This fort is situated on a high mountain, and
contains about thirty shops, and about four hundred
houses, fifty of which are occupied by dancing-girls.
It is strong and solid, more so than any other of the
Panjab forts. It has a rampart, which is stronger
than that of Delhi, though that was constructed by
the late emperors of that noble city. This fort has
never been examined by any Englishman before ;
for, although Mr. Moorcroft wished to see it, and
tried to induce the officers, by presents, to allow him
to go into the inside, yet his request was not com-
plied with.

We visited the fort, and found it to be very
strong, and in many parts entirely inaccessible.

It is needless to give a full explanation of this
ancient fort, because it can be found in Mr. Burnes’s
work. It is destitute of wells.

We halted on the 2nd, in order to write answers
to our letters.

March 3. Bakrala, twelve miles distant.—We
reached this village, after passing a number of
caverns, which are said to be infested with robbers,
who plunder the passengers. The people of this
village are obstinate and rebellious, and addicted to
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taking up arms against their sovereign, Ranjit Singh.
He has often attempted to punish them, but it is of
no use ; because, when threatened, they ascend the
neighbouring mountains. The village has several
times been reduced to ashes by Ranjit Singh, but
still the people are refractory.

March 4.—We commenced our march to Jabbo
Kassi, eleven and a half miles, traversing the ravines
I have already described. This village is very small
and contains no shops. In this part, between the
Duab (or Mesopotamia) of the Hydaspes and the
Indus, the hamlets are very close to each other, ins
habited by thirty or forty individuals, who rear
larger herds of cattle than in the other districts of
the Panjab.

We put up for the night in a very small mosque,
inhabited by a darvesh, or mendicant. Though he
was a Mohammedan, he put in the mosque a bed for
me, which was against his religion. I inquired of
him what was the cause of his being reduced to beg-
gary ; to which, sighing, he mildly replied :—That
his father was a respectable man of Candahar, who
died, leaving no issue besides him, then of the age
of ten or twelve years; and his mother two days
after shared the same fate. His uncles then em-
braced the opportunity of possessing themselves of
his father’s property, and drove him from his home.
After wandering two or three years, he met a holy
man, whom he called his * Murshid,” or religious
father, who advised him to leave the world, to re-
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member God Almighty always, and follow his
doctrine.

Marchk 5. Mandla, nine miles distant.—This
village seems smaller than those we left behind ;
but it is populous, and the inhabitants and their
houses are clean.

The soil is fertile, the husbandmen are smart and
industrious. They are Mohammedans. There is not
a single shopkeeper, but a Bhattiara, who provides
passengers with the necessaries of life. I put up
this night at a carpenter’s house, which was cleanly,
constructed of mud and rafters.

March 6.—We encamped near Manikyala, eight
miles ; the meaning of which name General Venturs,
an officer in the service of Maharaja Ranjit Singh,
conceives to be ¢ City of the White Horse,” beneath
which are buried extemsive ruins. The general
availed himself of the opportunity to prosecute the
researches formerly made on the spot, where coins,
bearing Greek legends, had been discovered. With
this view he directed excavations to be made into a
tope or cupola, the prodigious extent of which, as
well as of the fragments with which it is surrounded,
affords an idea of those relics of antiquity on which
time has exercised but little influence, and by means
of which their founders hoped to convey to future
. ages historical traces of the past.

His operations continued for two months, and the
opinion of the general (grounded upon conjecture)
is, that a sovereign prince alone could get such a
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building constructed, and that upon this site stood
the city of Bucephalia, erected by Alexander the
'Great, in honour of his horse ; and he deems it pro-
bable that the inscription on one of the relics may
relate to some circumstance connected with the in-
vasion of the Panjab by that great captain.

On the march from the Indus to the Hydaspes, a
party from the camp of Mr. Elphinstone (on his
return from his mission to Kabul) set out in search
of the remains of Taxila, the capital of Alexander’s
ally, Taxiles, or, more correctly, Takshasila, the
name of the Hindu city which, the late Colonel
Wilford conjectured, was situated in this direction.
The party met with no ruins or remains of any
ancient city, except this building, resembling a
cupola in its outline; but which proved to be a
solid structure on a low artificial mound. It was
about seventy feet high, and one hundred and fifty
paces in circumference, cased in most parts with
stone, but in some places apparently unfinished.
Most of Mr. Elphinstone’s party imagined the
building decidedly Grecian, but the natives termed
the structure the tope, or mound, or tumulus of
Manikyala, which is situated in a large city, forty
miles from the Jelum, or ancient Hydaspes (N.L.
32°).

The digging of the cupola continued with little
intermission and success, until the general found
iron and golden boxes, which contained a golden
ring and Greek coins, and some fluid substance,
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which Mr. Burnes and Dr. Gerard saw, through the
favour of General Allard, at Lahor. The city could
not have been Bucephalia, as General Ventura
supposes ; for some state that Alexander built that
city on the bank of the Hydaspes, at the place
where he crossed the river. The same authority
informs us, that the country between the Indus and
Hydaspes was governed by Taxiles, who was reason-
ably apprehensive of the ambition of Porus, the
sovereign of the country on the east of the Hydas-
pes. We bought here some Greek coins from the
villagers, who found them beneath the soil near the
tope, in the rainy season; some Mr. Burnes and
Dr. Gerard purchased and sent to Calcutta.

March7. Raval Pindi, fifteen and a half miles.—
We came to this town in the afternoon, and en-
camped in the house of Shah Shuja ul Mulk, the
deposed king of Kabul. The officers of the Maha-
raja came to receive us, and treated us respectfully;
they sent us a zeafat also.

March 8.—We halted here to reduce still more
of our baggage : the load of two mules we kept, and
all the rest we threw away. We put on the Afghan
dress, and pretended to be Duranis ; but this impo-
sition would not bear close inspection. Mr. Burnes
altered his English name to Sikandar Khan, and I
was called Hasan Jan, as named on my birth-day.

We tied our cooking-pots on our horses’ backs,
to shew our indigence to the Durani or Afghan
people, who will plunder and murder travellers for
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a farthing ; such show as we made in the Panjab
would have endangered our safety in the Durani and
Uzbeg countries.

March 9.—We continued at Pindi, in conse-
quence of having very heavy rains, and Dr. Gerard
was taken ill, which grieved me much, as he was
very kind to me.

I had a sight this evening of the tomb of Che-
ragh Shah, a pious man; many miracles are now
wrought on his monument, which was constructed of
stones and mortar 1,200 years ago. There are some
beggars, his votaries, who gain their livelihood by
the charity of the people who visit the mausoleum.

The climate of Raval Pindi is good, but the
winters are colder than those of Lahor. The po-
pulation is reckoned to be equal to that of Pind
Dadan Khan. The inhabitants are chiefly Hindus,
by whom other castes are tolerated. The soil is
richly cultivated, and produces grain, mustard-seed,
and Indian corn. The vegetation is quick. The
husbandmen are smart and strong, but still they
are careless of agriculture, in consequence of
the oppression they suffer from the Sikh govern-
ment.

This town is enriched by the trade in raisins,
almonds, grapes, &c. and blankets, and is frequented
by the merchants of Peshawer, Kabul, &c. From
this place all sorts of commodities from the upper
countries are exported to the different parts of the
Panjab.

D



34 FROM DELHI TO PESHAWER.

March 10.—A march of thirteen miles brought
us to a small, rebellious village, called Jani-ka-
Sang (Jani means  dear,” and sang means ¢ union ;’
‘union with a dear object’). The inhabitants
of this village do not regard the authority of the
Sikhs. There are two shopkeepers living in the
neighbouring small and muddy fort, which is desti-
tute of people. The land is barren, and abounds
with bushes, mixed with grass. The husbandmen
are scarcely provided with the necessaries of life.
They live mostly upon milk, and consider plunder
as lawful traffic.

March 11. Usman Khatar, nine miles.—We
passed through Margala, which is handsomely paved
with large and clean stones. It was built by the
late emperors of Delhi, and it gives an idea of the
energy of the workmen, who cut the range of hills,
and made a passage through it, about two hundred
yards in length. We found here a Persian inscrip-
tion engraved on stone, which was in the middle of
the top of the hill, and overlooked the pavement. I
ascended the height, by an almost impassable way,
with great difficulty, with the view of learning what
was written there ; but it could not be deciphered,
as it was worn out, and covered with black dust.
Mar means ‘ snake,’ and gala means ¢ throat’ (‘ throat
of the snake’). It is alleged, that when travellers
pass in safety by Margala (which abounds with
thieves), they congratulate each other on their escape.
We reached this village, commonly called Usman
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Khatar, before sunset, and put up in a husband-
man’s house.

The soil is well adapted for cultivation, and is
occupied by a flourishing colony. A spring from
the base of the neighbouring hills supplies this vil-
lage with numerous streams, which wash the streets,
bazars, and gates of the houses in the village,
and adorn and fertilize the hamlets. I liked this
place, which abounds with clear and crystalline
canals, very much ; and if they would run in Delhi
as they do here, it would make that city a perfect
paradise. There are about seventy shops in this
village.

The people are very handsome, both in stature
and features, and possess the beauty of symmetry.
The village contains two thousand souls, half of
whom are cultivators; they are chiefly Hindus,
though the northern part is inhabited by Moham-
medans.

I met a Hindu goldsmith in this village, who
had traversed Persia, and returned two months ago
from Bokhara ; he told me of the wonders of that
city, the dangers of the road, and cruelty of the
inhabitants. He shewed a Russian copper coin (a
copec), which he bought in Bokhara for a quarter of
a rupee. It was broad in circumference, resembling
a cake. It excited in me a greater desire to see the
Russian countries than I had before felt. This
coin was a curious thing to me, having never seen
the like of it in my life. I introduced him to Mr.

D 2
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Burnes, who put many questions to him respect-
ing the road, and conversed with him for two.
hours.

March 12. Burhan, twelve miles and a quarter.—
Our course led us through the celebrated place
called Hasan Abdal, the residence of the Delhi
Emperor Jahangir, whose body rests in Shahdra,
on the bank of the Ravi, near Lahor.. In the
vicinity of this place was a garden, without the
village, called Vah, planted by that Emperor. It
is watered by six fountains, which contain numerous
fishes. We reached our camp, and were well
treated by a husbandman.

A beautiful Sikh boy, fourteen years of age,
came to me, and, holding the bridle of my horse,
prevailed upon me to shew him Messrs. Burnes
and Gerard (or the Sahib-log). I pointed them
out to him; he then told me that he could not dis-
tinguish the gentlemen from me, as we had all
Afghan dresses.

Marck 13. Haidru, eight miles distant.—We
forded a rapid, noisy, and fearful stream on our
Jjourney (appropriately called Haro), which made
me tremble on the horse, whose legs were losing
their hold by the force of the water.

We encamped at a clean house out of the village,
and were surrounded by a number of people, both
men and women, who looked at us with amazement,
and, talking to each other, said we were sent by
Ranjit Singh on a mission to the Peshawer Sardar.
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It happened four years ago that this village was
ravaged by Sayad Ahmad, better known by the
name of Khalifa. He crossed the Indus at night,
and put the men of this village to the sword, not
only the Hindus but the Musalmans also. Mean-
while, Sardar Hari Singh, one of the Sikh chiefs,
having gained intelligence of the enemy, while he
was perpetrating his horrid deeds, came upon him,
sword in hand, terrified Khalifa, and massacred three
parts of his troops, which made him retreat across
the Indus as soon as possible. Kbhalifa was bigoted
to the Mohammedan creed. Having been brought
up among superstitious people, and having been
taught to prefer even martyrdom to apostasy, he
was an enemy to the infidels or Sikhs.

March 14—We got a civil message from Sardar
Hari Singh this morning, saying that he was very
anxious to visit us, but some urgent affairs made
him stop on the banks of the Indus, called Sirkika
Bela, where he requested us to favour him with a
visit.

We traversed an extensive plain, well fitted for
a combat, and richly cultivated. The villagers are
Afghans; they speak the Pashto language. On
this vast plain Shah Mahmud and Fatah Khan
Vazir seemed willing by a vigorous effort to rescue
their country ; and, with inferior forces, continued
for a long time to disturb and harass the Maharaja
Ranjit Singh, till at length they were totally
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routed and driven across the Indus. Since then,
none of the Duranis have dared to wage war with
Ranjit Singh.

Before we reached our camp, Sardar Hari Singh,
with a respectable retinue, came to receive us, and
shewed us great respect; he was robed in rich
brocade, and armed. He conducted us to his camp,
on the banks of the Indus, where he had pitched
tents for us. His appearance, deportment, intrepid
language, as well as his moral qualities, resembled
those of Ranjit Singh. He sent us a zeafat of
money, and was talkative.

Mr. Burnes and Dr. Gerard, in company with
Sardar Hari Singh, forded the Indus on elephants.
There happened a melancholy accident on this
occasion; seven horses and their riders were swept
away by the impetuous torrent ; two of the former
and one man found a watery grave.

March 15.—We followed the course of the
Irdus, or Atak, and remained in a ruined inn or
Sarae, outside of the gate of Atak.

We wished to examine the fort of Atak, and the
Abduzd a subterraneous passage of water. The
term Abduzd means in Persian ‘stealing of the
water”  The garrison supply themselves from
thence with an immense quantity of water, when
there is war, and when people cannot go out of
the gates to fetch water. The garrison had
mutinied on account of the long arrears of their



FROM DELHI TO PESHAWER. 39

pay, which was the cause of their disobedience of
the Maharaja’s orders, who had authorized us to
examine the fort. It was regretted by our party
that the garrison refused to admit us.

March 16.—We halted here; on account of some
public business.

March 17. Khairabad, two miles across the
Indus.—We passed the “ forbidden river,” or Atak,
this morning. Its current runs six miles an hour,
more rapid than that of the other Panjab rivers.
It is very deep. The splashing of the water is
heard at a distance of three miles, and deafens the
people who cross it. The north part of the fort
of Khairabad is washed by a slow muddy river,
called Landi, which, after sweeping the base of the
Kabul and Snowy mountains, joins the Indus, and
excites its rapidity and violence.

When we approached the village,'the people and
soldiers crowded round us with arms, and gave us
ill words, saying, “ Put these monkeys to the sword,
and plunder their baggage;” but they could not do
any harm to us, because the Almighty God ever
protects travellers. I sent a letter to Mr. Treve-
lyan, containing an account of Ranjit Singh’s charac-
ter, and some particulars of the Panjab. We got a
friendly epistle from Nazir Morad Ali Khan, who is
in the service of the Peshawer Governor, Sultan
Mohammed Khan. He sent us a very friendly
message, that he and his master were happy to hear
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of our arrival in their city, as they entertain a
friendly feeling towards Englishmen.

Marchk 18. Akora, eleven miles distant.—We
passed in our journey through a place called Gidar
Gali, famous for robbers, who plunder travellers in
the daytime.

A Nihang, or Akali, with three or four persons,
met us with swords in their hands, with an intention
to kill us; but they were prevented by a party of
Sikh soldiers, who came to protect us; but still they
abused and cursed us.

Before we reached our camp, the officer of Akora,
accompanied by soldiers, came to receive us; he
talked very courteously, and conducted us to the
village, where he had prepared a clean house for us.
The Afghans of the village came to us, and con-
versed in the Persian language, with great polite-
ness and respect.

March 19. We came to Pirpai, a distance of
eighteen miles.—Two Afghans, of a respectable
family, with a band of sepoys, accompanied us as
far as our encampment. We traversed an extensive
plain, where the famous battle of Sayad Ahmad
with Ranjit Singh was fought. Many dead bodies
are buried in this place of those who were killed
in the combat.

This village is thinly peopled, and was reduced to
ashes twice by Ranjit Singh, when he fought with
the Duranis of Peshawer. The inhabitants are
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Afghans, who are fond of their religion. We put
up for the night in a very narrow and poor cottage,
where Mr. Burnes and all his servants resided
together.

About eight o’clock at night, Nazir Husain Jan,
a fat man, of bold appearance, sent by Sardar
Sultan Mohammed Khan, came to convey us to
Peshawer. He delivered us two letters, one from
Nazir Morad Alj, and the other from Sultan Moham-
med Khan. They contained friendly sentences.

March 20. It was raining when we saddled our
horses, and set out for Peshawer, twenty miles.—
The road was on both sides richly cultivated. Nazir
Morad Ali, and the elder son of Sultan Mohammed
Khan, came to receive us, and conducted us honour-
ably to a pretty house, adjoining that of Sultan
Mohammed Khan, which is almost surrounded by
fine orchards, where there is a large pond. ‘

Sultan Mohammed Khan came to Mr. Burnes,
and dined with him, and with Dr. Gerard, partaking
of their dishes, though a Mohammedan. He talked
for a long while in a very friendly manner. I was
very much astonished to see them eating together
from one dish, the like of which I never saw
amongst the selfish Mohammedans of India.

The town of Peshawer stands on an uneven plain.
It is about one thousand seven hundred feet above
the level of the sea, which is the reason of the
northern complexion of the foliage. It is not forti-
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fied, but surrounded on all sides, except one, by
mountains. Peshawer unites the luxuriance of
tropical verdure with the vegetation of an European
climate. The houses are constructed of bricks
(generally unburnt) in wooden frames. They are
chiefly three or four stories high. The streets are
narrow, but larger and cleaner than those of Lahor,
and they are paved. A number of brooks run
through the town, which are crossed by bridges.
There are many mosques, but none of them worthy
of such praise as those of Delhi.

- The northern part of the town contains the ruins
of a famous building, called Balahisar (Bala means,
in Persian, ¢high; Aisar means ¢fort’). It com-
mands a romantic prospect of some very spacious
and pleasing gardens.

The inhabitants of Peshawer are generally Afghans,
or Duranis; they are of Indian origin. The city
contains about 80,000 souls. They are remarkable
for their cruelty and fierceness, except the men of
rank. Their heroism is great, but exalted neither
by mercy nor resolution. They have often been
dispossessed of their estates by Abdus Samad, an
inhabitant of Iran. He is an agent of the governor
of Peshawer, and has spread a report among the
citizens that he is an European, or Farangi; and
they, without any scruple, believe him to be so,
owing to their ignorance. He stands high in the
favour of Sultan Mohammed Khan.
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The situation of Peshawer, surrounded as it is
on three sides by mountains, makes it liable to fre-
quent variations in the weather, but it prevents those
great extremes of heat in summer to which Lahoris
generally subject, and it is on that account probably
that the inhabitants possess good complexions. It
is also deserving of remark, that the variableness of
the climate does not destroy the vegetation, which
might have been apprehended. Even the greatest
irregularity and the most unfavourable appearances
of the weather are not, as in Indian countries,
accompanied with famine or scarcity ; perhaps this
may be in part owing to the great improvements in
agriculture. Such attention has been paid to agri-
culture and the amelioration of the soil, that no part
of the Panjab country can equal the cultivated dis-
tricts of Peshawer in beautiful scenery. The agree-
able avenues and handsome houses extend not only
over the suburbs, but also over the whole of the
gardens which surround the city, and are adorned
with the richest verdure; an adequate idea of the
grandeur of which is not easily conveyed by words.
It is certain that no city in the Panjab equals
Peshawer in the richness of its soil. Grapes,
figs, pomegranates, pears, apples, melons, oranges,
peaches, &c. are produced here.

The government of Peshawer is administered by
petty sardars, who do not know the name of justice,
and are fond of luxury. They possess a few bat-
talions, composed of foot and horse soldiers, who
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use spears, swords, and guns in battle. They fight
furiously and openly.

The religion of the inhabitants is Mohammedan,
but other sects are tolerated by them. The mullas,
or religious men, enjoy great authority. They are
generally smart, and in possession of the greatest
part of the learning and riches of the country, which
is the cause of their being permitted to inflict
penalties upon those who are fond of wine, danc-
ing, music, &c.

Sultan Mohammed Khan, the present governor
of Peshawer, commonly called Sardar, is a man of
middle stature. He has passed the meridian of life,
and is fond of pleasure. He is notorious for his
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